AN ARCHAEOLOGICAL WATCHING BRIEF AT LAND ADJACENT TO 5 JAMES TERRACE, MORTLAKE SW14

1)
SUMMARY

The following report summarises the results of an archaeological watching brief undertaken at land to the east of 5 James Terrace, Mortlake, in the London borough of Richmond upon Thames.  Reduction of topsoil and the digging of trenches and pits in advance of the building of a self-contained extension revealed a possible 17th or 18th century well and the foundation courses of a cottage documented as being demolished in the 1930’s.
The watching brief showed that the current churchyard to the east did not extend to this area in an earlier period and that no evidence of Saxon activity, even in residual form, was present.
2)
INTRODUCTION

2.1
Planning permission has been granted by the London Borough of Richmond Upon Thames, for the redevelopment of a strip of land directly to the west of St Mary’s church yard. Due to the potential for archaeological remains to be present on the site an archaeological condition was attached to the planning consent. 

2.2
No previous archaeological assessment has been undertaken for the site.

2.3
The site is centred at TQ 759 208, and is approximately 12m by 6.5m wide. The site is accessed from Vineyard path, directly to the north. The development area is bounded by Lunn’s cottage to the south, St Mary’s church and churchyard to the east, Number 5 James Terrace on the western side, and Vineyard path to the north (see Figure 2)
2.4
The plot of the proposed building borders the churchyard of St Mary’s. Despite there being a later dwelling on the site, it is believed that some of the yard may still be preserved to the west. A church has been on this site since approximately 1543 undergoing various redevelopments and rebuilding through the centuries (Weinreb and Hibbert, 1983).

3)
STRATEGY

3.1 Prior to the commencement of works a unique site code (VPT 04) was issued by the Museum of London, to be used as an identifier in any paper and artefact archive.
3.2 A majority of initial ground reduction of topsoil was observed as was the trenching and pitting for all foundations in the development blueprint. The only one not observed, as a judgemental choice by the author, was the extreme west side (north-south running) trench which being so close to the existing building would have likely only showed truncation and backfill of any previous strata into the natural levels.
4)
RESULTS (see figure 2)
4.1 What is believed to be the earliest structure on site was a crudely backfilled rounded brick structure (012) around 1 metre in diameter and of unknown depth. What made this unusual was the fact that the west side wall of the cottage (014) was built over this.
Walls 002, 005, 013, 014 and 015 all relate to the foundation coursings of what was Church Cottage, demolished in the 1930’s. The layout gives dimensions of 7 metres by 3 metres wide, rather “bijou” for today but with a first floor quite adequate for one or two people in the 1800’s to 1900’s. Each run was two courses wide, of red brick with average dimensions of 100 x 215 x 65mm. Each survived to a depth of five or six courses. Wall 002, whilst extremely close to churchyard wall 003, did not butt it.
Abutting rear wall 005 on its external side was masonry 016. This small brick and stone rectangular structure was 0.42m North-South x 0.25m East-west and 0.20m deep to a hard render set on slate floor 10mm thick.
On the internal side of wall 005 was the degraded remnants of a possible brick fire base (018), roughly 1.00 m east-west x 0.22m north-south.
Roughly 0.65metres to the south of wall 005 was a small round brick domed structure (010) 0.75m in diameter (0.6m internal) and 0.8metre tall of single red brick coursings. It had no obvious floor except a levelling of context 004, firm, mid brown-yellow fine sandy silt clay, which is thought to be imported to strengthen the ground for building, as it starts at the line of structure 010 and continues north. To the south of this the ground consisted of light greyish brown sandy silt (007) with frequent ceramic building material (CBM) fragments and pottery sherds of 19th/early 20th century date. Below this was 008, mid greenish brown clayey sandy silt with frequent CBM, pot and chalk flecks about 0.4m thick onto the orange yellow sandy clay natural (017), which was located 1.20m below the level of the house and vineyard path.
It must be noted that deposits 004, 007 and 008 were all truncated by various pits, demolition activity and service runs (like 006-a stoneware pipe running south to north) which cannot be plotted properly as they were only seen partially in the trench.
Picked up in trenching on the southern side of site was a rectangular flue type structure (009), made from yellow stock brick and stone, being 0.60m x 0.55m and infilled with ash and charcoal fragments. While similar to 016 against the rear of the cottage, it was not picked up again and so has no obvious physical relationship with any other feature.
The overlying topsoil (001) was very rich dark brown black humic soil which had already been partly graded on arrival at site yet was still up to 0.60m thick in some places.
4.2
The Churchyard W all (003)

The current churchyard boundary wall will have been erected post 1799 when the plot of land to the east of the site was acquired by the church (no headstone in this plot is pre 1800). The deep nature of the new foundation trench against the west side of the church wall allowed the full elevation to be examined, probably for the first time since it was built. The wall is red brick in a Flemish style coursing (alternate stretcher-header) with a triangular capping on top, and stands for 1.42m. It sits on 0.46m of randomly coursed rough squared chalk and limestone blocks that include occasional brick pieces and knapped flint. The wall is founded on the natural clay deposits.
5)
FINDS

No finds were retained In all deposits transfer printware pottery was seen suggesting dates of 1780 +.
6)
CONCLUSIONS

6.1
The main feature on site is the remains of the cottage (walls 003, 005, 013,014 and 015); it had a frontage onto the now Vineyard path (facing northward) and had a length of just over seven metres and a width of just over three metres. The ground floor front room was 3.7m x 2.6m (12 foot x 8 foot, 6 inches) and the rear room 2.6m squared. The small rectangular feature butting the rear side of the structure may well be the base of an air flue serving a fire place against the rear internal room. The degraded brick spread on the inside of the wall therefore is likely to be the remnant of the hard stand of a fireplace, although there is no hole/channel linking the exterior and interior of the wall. It is possible that this may have been at a slightly higher, original ground level. The small round brick structure just to the south of here has no physical link to anything and appears at a slightly lower level yet may well have served the cottage. Its function could not be accurately determined. The lack of evidence of burning and the lack of a brick floor is reminiscent of a miniature icehouse, if such smaller things existed.
The backfilled round brick structure which was under the western side of the cottage is likely to have been a well. It must pre-date the cottage and a large length of lead pipe pulled vertically out of it and peering into the small voids indicated a depth of a few metres. It is possible that this is one of a few sporadic wells in the area that served these plots of land when they were used for market gardens. It falls halfway between two plots if we assume the cottage and the fence line dividing this plot pre development were established for some time (the cottage orientation is that of the plot’s west boundary).
The deep nature of deposits 007 and 008 in the southern half of site may well represent a vigorous turning of the soils when this plot was an open area used a “market garden”, maybe allotment style parcels of land.
7)
BIBLIOGRAPHY

AOC Archaeology Group (2003):
Land adjacent to 5 James Terrace, Vineyard path. Written scheme of investigation
Weinreb, B. and Hibbert, C (1983):
The London Encyclopaedia.
8) ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to Judith Rimmer at 5 James Terrace for her background 
information and cups of coffee !
Figure 1: Site Location

Figure 2: Locations of Monitored Area (showing archaeological features)

Appendix A
CONTEXT TABLE
	Context No.
	Context Description
	Length
	Width
	Depth
	Plan No.
	Section No.

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	001
	Humic topsoil
	area
	area
	variable
	-
	-

	002
	N-S  brick foundation 
	7.1m
	0.26m
	0.39m
	-
	-

	003
	Western boundary wall of churchyard
	16.4m
	0.40m
	1.88m
	-
	-

	004
	Natural subsoil
	trenches
	trenches
	n/a
	-
	-

	005
	E_W brick foundation
	3.00m
	0.26m
	n/a
	-
	-

	006
	Ceramic drain run
	 
	Trench
	0.25m
	-
	-

	007
	Dump deposit
	5.00m
	trench
	
	-
	-

	008
	Old garden soils
	n/a
	area
	0.16-0.80m
	-
	-

	009
	 Small brick/ stone structure
	0.60m
	0.55m
	NFE
	-
	-

	010
	Rounded brick structure
	0.75m
	0.75m
	0.80m
	-
	-

	011
	Sandy clay packing make up?
	c 8.0m
	c 5.0m
	2.0m
	-
	-

	012
	Brick well
	1.0m 
	1.0m 
	NFE 
	 
	-

	013
	Internal E-W wall foundation
	2.70m
	0.26m
	NFE
	 
	-

	014
	N_S wall foundation
	7.1m
	0.26
	0.35m
	-
	-

	015
	E-W wall foundation
	2.70m
	0.26m
	NFE
	-
	-

	 016
	Masonry
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	 017
	Natural sand clay
	area 
	area 
	NFE 
	 
	 

	 018
	Bricks-hearth, floor?
	1.0m 
	0.22m 
	NFE 
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